
Agenda

Housing Panel 
(Panel of the Scrutiny Committee)

Date: Monday 4 March 2019

Time: 6.00 pm

Place: Plowman Room - Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
Stefan Robinson, Scrutiny Officer
Telephone: 01865 252191
Email: srobinson@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum internal and 
Council member requirement. Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall 
Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Sent to you in hard copy form upon payment of an annual subscription.

Housing Panel (Panel of the Scrutiny Committee)
Membership

Chair Councillor Nadine Bely-Summers

Geno Humphrey (Housing Panel co-
optee)
Councillor Lubna Arshad

Councillor Richard Howlett

Councillor Dick Wolff

Councillor Michael Gotch

Councillor Sian Taylor

Councillor Elizabeth Wade



AGENDA
1  APOLOGIES

Substitutes are not allowed.

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 7 - 12
For the Panel to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 12 November 
2018. 

4  HOUSING PANEL WORK PLAN 13 - 14
For the Panel to note and agree its work plan, which can be adjusted to 
reflect the wishes of the Panel.

5  SEVERE WEATHER EMERGENCY PROTOCOL: REVIEW OF 
2018/19

15 - 22

To consider a report requested by the Panel concerning how well SWEP has 
worked for rough sleepers over the Winter, and any lessons learnt and areas 
for improvement.

6  HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION FUNDS 2019/20 23 - 56
To consider a report which seeks approval from the City Executive Board, on 
13 March 2019, for the allocation of homelessness prevention funds in 
2019/20.

7  OPTIONS FOR A COUNCIL OWNED LETTING AGENCY 57 - 60
To consider a report, as requested by the Panel, concerning possible options 
for the establishment of a council owned letting agency.

8  QUARTER 3 HOUSING PERFORMANCE REPORT 61 - 64
To consider the Quarter 3 Housing Performance Report for 2018/19. 

9  DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Meetings are scheduled as follows:

8 April 2019 
27 June 2019 
3 October 2019 
5 December 2019 

All meetings begin at 6.00pm.



DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or 
himself but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as 
husband or wife or as if they were civil partners.







HOUSING PANEL (PANEL OF THE SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE)

Monday 12 November 2018
COUNCILLORS PRESENT: Councillors Henwood (Chair), Humphrey, Arshad, 
Howlett, Gotch and Bely-Summers.

OFFICERS PRESENT: 
Rachel Lawrence, Rough Sleeping and Single Homeless Manaager
Paul Wilding, Systems Change Manager, Homeless Prevention
Stefan Robinson (Scrutiny Officer)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE
Councillor Linda Smith, Board Member for Leisure and Housing.

170. APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillor Wolff. 

171. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no decelerations of interest. 

172. NOTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The Panel approved the notes of the meeting held on 11 October, subject to two 
minor amendments. 

173. SEVERE WEATHER EMERGENCY PROTOCOL (SWEP)
Rachel Lawrence, Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness Manager, 
explained that a Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) had been agreed 
by the Council and local homelessness organisations for 2018/19. As in previous 
years SWEP would provide additional emergency bed spaces in the winter 
period for people sleeping rough in the City. Last year was an extremely harsh 
winter during which SWEP opened for a total of 36 nights, providing emergency 
accommodation to all those who wanted it; a total of 141 individuals accessed 
SWEP, and a total of 837 nights’ of accommodation were provided. Because 
SWEP operated on a simple overtime model, this put significant pressure on 
individuals and the local homelessness organisations involved. 

As in previous years, SWEP was instigated on a forecasted weather period of 
three consecutive nights at zero degrees Celsius or below. SWEP would operate 
on the same basis in the 2018/19 winter, however officers had discretion to open 
under other circumstances and will exercise a common sense approach in this 
regard. If people want to access SWEP, they would need to be at O’Hanlon 
House between 9:00pm and 9:30pm, from where they would be allocated a bed 
space at this or another SWEP venue. Transport would be made available if it 
was needed. The review of SWEP undertaken over the summer, considered 
whether it would be possible to extend this time frame, but there were logistical 
challenges and risks in doing this. 7

Agenda Item 3



Owing to additional MHCLG funding, there were 41 more bed spaces available 
within the Oxford Adult Homeless Pathway for the 2018/19 winter than in the 
previous year. Oxford Winter Night Shelter also had an additional 10 bed spaces 
[total 20 spaces]. 

Since last year, officers had engaged with community groups and service 
professionals to gather feedback on improving SWEP provision. One of the key 
areas for improvement identified was about communication, and ensuring that:

a) Contact Oxford SPOT - People understand that if they are concerned 
about a person who maybe rough sleeping and may therefore need to 
access SWEP, they should contact Oxford SPOT on 01865 243 229 or 
via email Outreach.Oxford@mungos.org. Oxford SPOT is not an 
emergency service, but calls and emails will be followed up as soon as 
possible. You can also report a rough sleeper through the national 
www.streetlink.org.uk website or call StreetLink on 0300 500 0914. If you 
believe a rough sleeper’s health is in immediate danger, please call 999.

b) Timeline - there is a clear message about the time schedule for 
accessing SWEP. This was hindered last year owing to misinformation 
from well-intended individuals not associated with SWEP. 

The Panel were pleased to note the focus on improving communication, and 
engaging with local organisations for feedback. Members explicitly requested 
that student groups remain involved in discussions regarding SWEP. 

Officers advised that winter 2018/19 would possibly be the last year when SWEP 
operated on the current service model, eg. overtime. Officers were exploring  
more robust long term models for winter support. However, any new model of 
this nature would incur a significant cost to the Council. 

In response to questions, the Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness 
Manager clarified that kennels for dogs must be arranged by 2pm on the same 
day. It was noted however that dogs would not be able to be visited during the 3 
night SWEP period, which members felt made the kennels less appealing to 
some people.  

The Chair, Councillor Henwood, asked about the process for applying to 
volunteer for SWEP, and what type of references the application form was 
expecting. It was clarified that character references or employer references 
should be appropriate, however people who were interested in finding out more 
about volunteering for SWEP or to help in other ways could find out more online. 
The Chair advocated for greater advertising from the Council to get more 
applicants to help with SWEP. The Rough Sleeping & Single Homelessness 
Manager explained that volunteers would be used specifically this winter to 
assist with meeting, greeting and helping to direct SWEP users to their allocated 
venue. Homeless Oxfordshire would coordinate recruitment, training and 
management of these volunteers.

As part of the wider communications plan for SWEP, it was clarified that 
personal text messages would be sent to rough sleepers, together with a press 
release and email to all partner agencies, every time SWEP was triggered. 

8

mailto:Outreach.Oxford@mungos.org
http://www.streetlink.org.uk/


In response to questions about overworked staff, it was clarified that the 
Outreach Team would not be asked to work night shifts at SWEP venues, and 
they will instead focus on coordinating SWEP operation including bed 
allocations, and on client engagement and follow-up. Officers also explained that 
many of the people (approximately 1 in 2) who presented for SWEP last year 
were not previously known to services. Plans were in place however to improve 
data recording, but the emergency nature of SWEP meant that data recording 
may still be difficult. 

The Rough Sleeping & Single Homelessness Manager explained that whilst 
more accommodation would be available this winter for rough sleepers, including 
those without a local connection, a procedure was in place to escalate capacity 
should it be needed, for example, if a SWEP venue ceased to be available. 

Paul Reed, from Aspire Oxfordshire, suggested that a feedback form could be 
helpful in recording how people learnt about SWEP and their experiences, and 
the Rough Sleeping & Single Homelessness Manager confirmed that this was 
something that officers were wanting to do. The Panel agreed to put this forward 
as a recommendation to the City Executive Board, and asked that the results of 
the survey come back to the Panel next year. 

In response to questions, the Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness 
Manager explained that the decision to trigger SWEP was made by the Council’s 
Rough Sleeping & Single Homelessness Team in consultation with Oxford 
SPOT, who would also have consulted service providers involved in SWEP 
delivery. Councillor Arshad suggested that communication needed to improve 
concerning the availability of kennels, and the availability of transport between 
venues during SWEP. It was clarified that there were a limitless number of 
available kennels for dogs, and that transport would be made available from 
O’Hanlon House where it was required. 

Members asked what should be done when someone was seen sleeping rough 
during SWEP. Officers strongly advised that all people use the 24hr Outreach 
Team phone number and – if there was a concern that a person maybe in 
immediate danger - the emergency services where necessary. It was clarified 
that, the Outreach Team did engage with people using SWEP to build 
relationships and make appropriate support service connections. However, the 
nature of this emergency provision, eg. it principally provides shelter and 
individuals will be asleep for most of their time in SWEP, means that 
opportunities for engagement are sometimes limited. Oxford SPOT would 
however also follow up with individuals who attend for breakfast at O’Hanlon 
House and Simon House. 

The Panel requested to note their thanks to all of the officers and organisations 
involved in SWEP.

Resolved

That the Housing Panel:

1) Recommends to the City Executive Board that a brief exit survey be 
issued to all SWEP users to gather feedback on how they were made 
aware of SWEP, and their experience of accessing the service. 

9



2) Requests that the responses to the survey be presented to the Panel in 
2019, together with the winter provision proposals for 2019/20.

3) Request that the new leaflets outlining the SWEP timeline be made 
available to members of the Panel.  

 
Councillor Gotch left the meeting at the end of this item.

174. REVIEW OF YEAR ONE OF THE HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION 
TRAILBLAZER

Paul Wilding, Systems Change Manager (Homelessness Prevention), explained 
that the Trailblazer was a two year programme, funded in the main by MHCLG, 
focussed on early intervention and support to prevent homelessness. It involved 
working with other public services providers to work as upstream as possible to 
identify people at risk of becoming homeless. This was not about filling a gap in 
provision, but instead about supporting long term systemic connections between 
services, and helping other services to identify the warning signs of someone at 
risk of homelessness, and what to do in these circumstances. The report 
presented to the Panel provided a comprehensive review of year one of the 
programme, and the quality of the report and level of detail was welcomed by the 
Panel. 

The Systems Change Manager explained that there were three stands to the 
programme:

1) Embedded Housing Workers: These workers were located within the 
criminal justice, health and social care settings to improve the 
organisational understanding of housing principles and how and when to 
refer people to relevant support services. A key area already identified as 
potentially saving money related to speeding up delayed transfers of care, 
which averaged 31 days when housing was a barrier to exiting hospital. 

2) Community Navigators: These workers sought to identify people at risk of 
homelessness, and work with them to link them with the relevant services. 
Some of these people had previous experience of homelessness, and 
their advice was sometimes heeded more reciprocally than it would 
otherwise be from a council officer. 

3) Homeless Champions Network: The network supported the upskilling of 
~60 people working in partner organisations to broaden their 
understanding of the housing system, and how to make effective referrals. 
The process had already found a lack of knowledge within partner 
organisations about peoples housing entitlements and the housing 
allocations process. It was hoped that this would help instil a legacy within 
these organisations of providing more effective referrals and advice to 
service users.

The Panel asked for more information about what the programme had found in 
year one. The Systems Change Manager explained that many people were left 
in beds when they were medically fit, because they did not have a home to be 
discharged too. The report highlighted that 2744 days had been accumulated for 
people awaiting discharge for this reasons within year one, totalling an indicative 
cost of £1.2m to the NHS.

10



The Chair highlighted that in relation to embedded housing workers, 103 cases 
had unknown outcomes, and that this uncertainty in the data may hinder any 
future funding bids to Central Government to extend the programme. The 
Systems Change Manager said that recording in this area would likely improve, 
but it highlighted that the sometimes brief and chaotic interactions do not lend 
themselves to effective tracking of outcomes. One example was given where 
people discharge themselves early from hospital, without providing a destination 
or discussing with the embedded workers. 

Councillor Howett asked about opportunities for pooled funding arrangements, 
and future funding of the programme. The Systems Change Manager explained 
that there was a business case to be made for pooled funding arrangements, but 
that this did not necessarily mean partners would be willing to fund further work, 
particularly in light of current public sector finances. Councillor Howlett drew 
attention to the idea that the Community Navigators may have more effective 
interactions with people experiencing homelessness than council officers, 
because of their wider experiences in relation to homelessness. Other members 
suggested that people experiencing homelessness could be better involved in 
the Council’s decision making processes. 

The Chair expressed particular concern about the potential to lose the skills and 
experience of the specialist workers in the programme, once it finished in August 
2019. The Systems Change Manager agreed that there was uncertainty ahead 
and that it was a difficult situation owing to short term funding. 

Resolved

That the Housing Panel requests an update return to the Panel concerning the 
year two outcome of the Trailblazer Programme. 

175. QUARTER 2 HOUSING PERFORMANCE
In light of the absence of a relevant officer to present this item, the Panel asked 
that the following questions be forwarded to the Head of Housing Services for 
answering outside of the meeting:

1. In relation to performance indicator HP008 concerning the number of new 
homes granted permission in the City. It was not clear whether the result 
of 126 was a six month measure against a twelve month target of 200. 

2. In relation to performance indicator HC004 concerning Homelessness 
cases preventer. The Panel wanted to understand when the data will be 
made available, and whether the Council monitors the gender and 
sexuality of the people in the cases prevented, and of the people in the bi-
monthly rough sleeper street count. 

3. In relation to performance indicator HP003 concerning the number of 
people estimated to be rough sleeping. The Panel wanted to know the 
methodology for estimating this number.  

11



176. HOUSING PANEL WORK PLAN
The Panel requested that the Scrutiny Officer circulate the longlist of work plan 
items previously considered by the Panel on 5 July. 

Councillor Smith, Board Member for Leisure and Housing, suggested that the 
Panel may want to consider; matters concerning improving representation from 
the private rented sector within the Council’s decision making process, and 
selective licensing for private home lets. These were upcoming subjects for 
discussion with officers, and there was not any timescales or decisions 
associated with these items however at this stage. 

The Scrutiny Officer said that the Scrutiny Committee previously agreed to 
consider the outcome of the Hackitt Report as part of its annual work plan, and 
the rates of enforcement action in Oxford against breaches in building 
regulations. Following discussion with the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee and 
the Housing Panel, he proposed that this was more appropriate for the Housing 
Panel to consider. This was agreed for consideration on 8 April 2018. 

The Panel also indicated its interest in reviewing the tenant satisfaction report 
when it was available. 

177. DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The Panel noted that the next meetings would be held on 4 March 2019 and 8 
April 2019. 

The meeting ended at 8:16pm

12



HOUSING PANEL WORK PLAN
4 MARCH 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact

Options for a Council 
Owned Letting 
Agency

No To consider options for the establishment of a 
council owned letting agency. 

Housing / Leisure 
and Housing

David Rundle, Private 
Rented Team Leader

Severe Weather 
Emergency Protocol 
(SWEP) review

No To consider how well SWEP has worked for 
rough sleepers, and any lessons learnt and areas 
for improvement. 

Leisure and 
Housing

Rachel Lawrence, 
Rough Sleeping and 
Single Homelessness 
Manager

Q3 Housing 
Performance

No To consider performance against a set of housing 
indicators for the period October - December.

Housing / Leisure 
and Housing

Stephen Clarke, Head 
of Housing Services

Allocation of 
Homelessness 
Prevention Funds 
2019/20

Yes To consider a report which seeks approval from 
the City Executive Board for the allocation of 
homelessness prevention funds in 2019/20.

Leisure and 
Housing

Rachel Lawrence, 
Rough Sleeping and 
Single Homelessness 
Manager

8 APRIL 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item CEB 

Decision
Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact

Breaches in Building 
Regulations

No To consider a report on enforcement action taken 
against breaches in building regulations.

Housing Ian Wright, Head of 
Regulatory Services 
and Community 
Services 

27 JUNE 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
NONE

3 OCTOBER 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
NONE

5 DECEMBER 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
NONE

13

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



.

To: Housing Panel
Date: 4 March 2019
Report of: Rough Sleeping & Single Homelessness Manager
Title of Report: The operation of the Severe Weather Emergency 

Protocol (SWEP) winter 2018/19

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To inform the panel of the operation of SWEP
Key decision: No
Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Linda Smith, Leisure and Housing

Corporate Priority: Meeting housing needs
Policy Framework: Housing & Homelessness Strategy

Recommendation:     That Housing Panel resolves to note the report.

Appendices
Appendix 1 – SWEP Survey Results

Introduction and background  

1. Following a motion by the Board Member for Leisure and Housing Services, Full 
Council resolved on 26th November 2018, to ask officers to report to CEB in January 
and again in April on the operation of Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) 
this winter. Housing Scrutiny Panel has also requested a report on the operation of 
SWEP winter 2018/19. Further to the Board Member’s update for information to 
CEB 22nd January, this report now presents an overview of the operation of SWEP 
this winter.

What is SWEP?

2. The Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) sets out the measures that 
Oxford City Council and local homelessness organisations - St Mungo’s (OxSPOT), 
Homeless Oxfordshire, Aspire and A2Dominion - will take to provide additional 
emergency accommodation in instances of severe weather for people who are 
sleeping rough.

15

Agenda Item 5



3. SWEP opens on a forecast by the Met Office that the night temperature will fall to 
zero or below on 3 or more consecutive nights. SWEP then opens on the first night 
of this period - not after 2 or 3 nights – and remains open for so long as the 
temperature remains at zero degrees or below. There is also discretion to open on 
nights when the forecast indicates adverse weather conditions, for example, when 
there is snow on the ground or flooding or a period of changeable weather (say 2 
nights below 0°c, then a warmer night or two, then below 0°c again).

4. When SWEP is triggered the Council works with local homelessness organisations 
and others including Thames Valley Police to make sure that people who may need 
to use the service are aware that it is open. People wishing to access SWEP are 
required to present at O’Hanlon House between 9pm and 9.30pm, from where they 
will be directed to their allocated venue. Access to SWEP venues is between 10pm 
and 11pm, with admissions after this time, at the discretion of the venue 
coordinator.

5. SWEP emergency beds consist of roll mats and sleeping bags. Spaces are 
provided at a range of venues including O’Hanlon House and Simon House, and 
clients are allocated to the venue that is best placed to cater for their needs. 
Emergency beds are available for anyone who would otherwise be rough sleeping 
on the night, regardless of normal eligibility criteria for the Adult Homeless Pathway 
such as local connection. Each of the Oxfordshire District Councils is able to access 
one bed each within Oxford SWEP provision.

6. Oxford SPOT is responsible for SWEP coordination, allocating individuals to 
venues, and working with people accessing SWEP to ensure that support is 
provided to identify longer term solutions including reconnection or access to the 
Adult Homeless Pathway, where appropriate and enable them as appropriate to 
access longer term accommodation.

7. SWEP operates on a basic overtime model which involves experienced workers 
from the local network of homelessness organisations doing overtime shifts. SWEP 
operation therefore puts considerable pressure on core services for rough sleepers 
and single homeless people, particularly during periods of extended operation. 

8. It is hoped that the Council will be able to move away from the current service 
model for SWEP from winter 2018/19 and officers are therefore developing plans for 
the future provision of winter-long emergency accommodation, including as part of 
the proposed development of Floyd’s Row. 

Oxford Winter Night Shelter (OWNS)

9. In addition to the core SWEP provision, Churches in Oxford have also operated a 
rolling Oxford Winter Night Shelter (OWNS), doubling the amount of spaces that 
they offered during winter 2017/18 to provide a total of 20 spaces each night 
between 1st January and 31st March 2019. The service is available for people with 
low level needs.

16



10.Oxford City Council has worked closely with Churches in Oxford to ensure that 
arrangements are in place for OWNS to operate safely, including confirming that 
buildings are compliant with fire safety regulations and tasking OxSPOT to 
coordinate referrals into the service.  

Occasions when SWEP has been opened and discretionary openings

11.At the time of writing, SWEP has so far been triggered on 5 separate occasions this 
winter and for a total of 18 nights.

 13th to 15th December (SWEP opened for 3 nights, on officer discretion)
 2nd to 4th January (SWEP opened for 3 nights, in line with the Protocol)
 17th January (SWEP opened for 1 night initially, on officer discretion, and closed 

the following morning)
 22nd of January to 24th of January (SWEP opened for 3 nights, on officer 

discretion)
 28th of January to the 4th of February (SWEP opened for 8 nights, in line with the 

Protocol)

12.On three of these occasions officers exercised discretion to open SWEP even 
though the normal criteria for doing so – that is, a forecast of 3 or more nights in a 
row with zero degrees Celsius or below - had not been met. The reasons for this 
were that:

 On the first period of opening (13th to 15th December) the temperature was 
forecast to fall to below zero degrees on two nights (13th and 14th December), 
rise above freezing on one night (15th December) but with an extremely low 
“feels like” temperature on this third night.  

 On the third period of opening (17th January), SWEP opened initially for one 
night only. This decision was made because of the sub-zero temperature 
forecast for that night and a fluctuating forecast above and below zero over the 
weekend. The decision was made to close SWEP on the morning of Friday 18th 
January because there was no imminent forecast (starting within the following 48 
hours) for 3 consecutive nights at zero degrees Celsius or below.

 On the fourth period of opening (22nd of January to 24th January), only for 2 
nights sub-zero temperatures were predicted, but snow was forecast to fall on 
the 22nd January. Snow did fall on the 22nd with a small amount settling on the 
ground. 2 days later on the 24th January, most of this snow had melted and 
temperatures returned to above zero and the decision was made to close SWEP 
– after 3 nights of operation - on the morning of the 25th January. 

Number of people accommodated 

13.During the five periods of opening so far this winter, SWEP has provided a total of 
368 stays for 94 individuals with the maximum intake on a single night (2nd  
February) being 29 people. This is notably lower than the maximum intake of 41 
people on a single night during winter 2017/18. 

17



14.The vast majority of people who have used SWEP this winter have been 
accommodated at O’Hanlon House and Simon House. Most SWEP users used the 
service on more than one occasion during periods of opening, with the average 
amount of stays being 4 per person and the average amount of people 
accommodated on a SWEP night being 20. Again, this is notably lower than the 
average intake of 24 people on a single night during winter 2017/18. 

15.The table below summarises the intake to SWEP at individual venues and in total 
by night of operation over the winter 2018/19.

16. In common with previous years, a significant proportion of SWEP users (40/94, 
43%) were people who were not previously known to services. This is an important 
factor for the management of SWEP as people whose needs have yet to be 
assessed must be accommodated at the most secure venues [O’Hanlon House, 
Simon House].

17.Similarly, SWEP was well used by people without a known local connection to 
Oxfordshire (74/94, 79%) and by those without recourse to public funds (20/94, 
21%). 16 of the 94 (17%) unique visitors to SWEP were women.

Availability of bed spaces in the Adult Homeless Pathway

18.During the periods when SWEP has been open this winter a total of 214 bed spaces 
have been commissioned in the Oxford Adult Homeless Pathway.

18



19.Officers work closely with accommodation providers year round to maximise bed 
occupancy. However, there are several reasons why from time to time a bed / room 
may be briefly unoccupied (void) including the need for maintenance, the temporary 
absence of the resident (for example due to arrest or hospital admission), and 
because the bed / room has been allocated to a person who has not yet arrived.

20.During the five periods of SWEP opening this winter:
 13th to 15th December – all beds / rooms were occupied with the exception of 3 

units which were awaiting the imminent arrival of the allocated occupants

 2nd to 4th January - all beds / rooms were occupied with the exception of 8 units. 
Of these, 5 units were unoccupied because clients whose needs were 
appropriate for the service type / level had yet to be identified and 3 units where 
maintenance was needed before the bed / room could be re-allocated. 

 17th January – all beds/ rooms were occupied with the exception of 11 units. Of 
these, 7 were awaiting assessment for clients, 3 were beds which required 
maintenance before being free for allocation and 1 bed was waiting for a client to 
move in.

 22nd of January – all beds/ rooms were occupied with the exception of 10 units – 
3 were awaiting assessment of clients referred, 3 were awaiting clients to move 
in and 4 were maintenance voids.

 28th of January all beds/ rooms were occupied with the exception of 5 units - 4 
were awaiting assessment of clients referred and 1 was a maintenance void.

Exclusions from SWEP 

21.SWEP aims to provide additional accommodation for all those who need it during 
extreme, adverse weather conditions. Unfortunately, during the first two periods of 
SWEP operation a total of 12 separate individuals were excluded from the service 
on one or more occasions.

22.This was because – based on the information available to them at the time – SWEP 
accommodation providers considered that due to their behaviour, the individuals 
concerned posed an unacceptable level of risk to staff, residents and other SWEP 
users. The identified risks included violence and threats to staff members and other 
service users. 

23.Subsequently, officers met with the providers concerned and agreed an approach 
which includes personalised accommodation plans for all the high-risk individuals 
concerned and increased security and safety arrangements at Simon House. This 
plan was implemented ahead of the 3rd period of SWEP opening (17th January 
2019) and ensures that all those who need to can access SWEP. 

24.The personalised accommodation plans have ensured that all clients that were 
previously considered for exclusion could access accommodation. Furthermore, 
increased security at Simon House has ensured that 3 individuals who were 

19



identified as having high risk behaviours have made regular use of SWEP since 17th 
January, with a total of 25 stays over 11 days’ of operation. 

25.However, this arrangement has significantly increased the cost of SWEP provision 
this winter. Consequently, in January the Council submitted a bid to the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government’s Cold Weather Fund, which offers 
funding towards the cost of providing additional winter services. At the time of 
writing officers are still awaiting MHCLG’s decision on this bid but are optimistic that 
a total of £35,000 can be secured towards the cost of SWEP delivery in 2018/19.

Exit survey

26. In order to learn more about individuals’ experiences of SWEP and how this might 
be improved a new service user questionnaire was introduced. 

27.At the time of writing, we have received 31 responses from people who have used 
SWEP during the 5 periods of opening so far this winter. The majority of these have 
been from people who used the service in East Oxford (25) and at Simon House 
(6). So far, we have not received any responses from O’Hanlon House.

28.A brief summary of the feedback received in provided at Appendix A with key 
findings as follows:

 People who used the SWEP service were generally positive about their 
experience, rated the helpfulness of staff highly1 and indicating that they would 
use the service again

 People indicated that they heard about the service from a range of difference 
sources with the most common being day services (10) and outreach workers 
(10). Word of mouth (5), previous use of SWEP (5), and alerts via Oxford City 
Council’s Website (3) and by text alert (1) were also mentioned

 Suggestions for how to improve the SWEP service included not having to repeat 
registration details for every attendance (2), providing hot food (2), open SWEP 
for longer (details not specified) (2) and using alcohol tests for those coming in 
(1).

Conclusions 

29.Oxford’s Severe Weather Emergency Protocol has ensured that additional 
emergency provision has been available to – and has been well used by – people 
who would otherwise have slept rough this winter. 

30.The service has provided emergency accommodation to 94 individuals and made 
additional provision for clients identified as having high risk behaviours – ensuring 
that all those who need to access the service have been able to do so. 

1 On a scale of 1 (‘not very helpful’) to 5 (‘very helpful’) 

20



31.However, this development – providing personalised accommodation plans and 
additional security arrangements to ensure safety for all – demonstrates the breadth 
of need and behaviours that SWEP venue providers need to accommodate and 
manage, also bearing in mind that a significant proportion of SWEP users (43%) 
were people who were not previously known to services.

32.Meeting the diverse needs of all those at risk of rough sleeping and those who sleep 
rough is the essential purpose and challenge for the Adult Homeless Pathway and 
additional emergency winter provision. Officers will draw on the experiences of and 
learning from the delivery of SWEP winter 2018/19 in developing plans for the future 
provision of emergency winter accommodation, including as part of the proposed 
development of Floyd’s Row. 

21



Appendix A: SWEP survey results

Summary based on 31 completed survey questionnaires of which 25 were from users 
of SWEP at the East Oxford venue and 6 people who used the service at Simon 
House.

i) Feedback score:

Feedback Score (out of 5)

East Oxford 
(Average, 25 
respondents)

Simon House 
(Average, 6  
respondents)

How was your SWEP experience? 4.8 3.2
Were our staff helpful? 5.0 3.8
Would you come again? 4.9 3.8

ii) How did you hear about SWEP?
 East Oxford Simon House
Day Services (porch) 6 0
Day Services (unspecified) 3 1
Outreach Worker 10 0
Word of Mouth 3 2
The Hub 2 0
OCC Website 2 1
Used SWEP Before 4 1
Text Alert 0 1

i) Suggestions about how to improve SWEP:
Suggestions about how to improve 
SWEP: Number of Respondents
Hot food 2
Alcohol test for guests 1
Not having to fill out personal details 
on registration every time 2
Separate space for loud snorers 1
Be open for longer! 2

22



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 13 March 2019
Report of: Head of Housing Services
Title of Report: Allocation of Homelessness Prevention Funds for 

2019/20 

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To approve the allocation of homelessness prevention 

funds with the purpose of helping meet the objectives of 
the Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2018/21. 

Key decision: Yes
Executive Board 
Member:

Cllr Linda Smith, Deputy Leader (Statutory) of the Council, 
and Board Member for Leisure and Housing

Corporate Priority: Meeting housing needs
Policy Framework: Housing and homelessness strategy 2018/21

Recommendations: That the City Executive Board resolves to:
1. Approve the allocation of Homelessness Prevention funds to commission 

homelessness services in 2019/20 as outlined in paragraph 56 to 58 below 
and in Appendix D, including the following changes to allocations
 Big Issue Service Broker – that this Payment by Results contract is ended 

and a contingency of £3,125 is made available to facilitate this

 OxTHINK – allocation increased from £4,396 in 2018/19 to £5,272 to 
cover costs relating to the continuation of licence agreements for service 
providers’ staff and further system development. This allocation to be 
reviewed in year to take account of alternative ICT solutions, including the 
new housing database.

 Emmaus – that funding is reduced from £10,000 in 2018/19  to £5,000 
and will taper to zero in 2020/21 in recognition of the fact that Emmaus’ 
second-hand furniture superstore is expected to be financially self-
sustaining in 2020/21 and will continue to provide work opportunities 

 Network development - £5,000 towards the development and delivery of 
a programme of networking, learning and development for commissioned 
service providers’ staff and others as appropriate

 Access to leisure services - £5,000 to support former rough sleepers to 
access the Council’s leisure facilities free of charge.

 Contingency for Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness - £1,587 
allocated for in-year changes to committed allocations.

23

Agenda Item 6



2. Approve that the Council enter into 24 month [1st April 2019 to 31st March 
2021] grant agreements with the Response Organisation and Homeless 
Oxfordshire to deliver a combined Acacia / Housing First Service, with 
increased capacity to meet the needs of chronic and entrenched rough 
sleepers.

3. Delegate to the Head of Housing in consultation with the portfolio holder for 
Housing the discretion to revise the intended programme within the overall 
budget if required.

Appendices
Appendix A Appendix A – Supported Accommodation for City Use 2018/19 

and 2019/20

Appendix B Strategic priorities for meeting the needs of vulnerable people 
and rough sleepers [Extract from the Council’s Housing & 
Homelessness Strategy 2018-21]

Appendix C Commitments and year end forecast 2018/19
Appendix D Proposed allocations 2019/20
Appendix E Map of services funded by Oxford City Council for rough 

sleepers and single homeless people
Appendix F Risk assessment

24



Introduction and background 
1. This report presents an overview of how the funding allocated in 2018/19 has been 

spent and the funding available in 2019/20 to provide services for rough sleepers 
and single homeless people in Oxford. 

2. The report also provides an update on developments in 2018/19 including the 
number of people known to be sleeping rough and new funding opportunities 
emerging from the government’s new rough sleeping strategy which aims to support 
every person who sleeps rough to get off the streets and into a home by 2027. 

3. Finally, the report highlights some of the opportunities and challenges that lie 
ahead.

Context and key developments 2018/19

Number of people sleeping rough remains high
4. Rough sleeping continues to be a significant issue in the City, with high numbers of 

rough sleepers being contacted by Oxford Street Population Outreach Team 
(OxSPOT) each month – 105 people were seen rough sleeping in October 2018, 
115 in November and 67 in December. 

5. The Council’s official street count in November 2018 was 45, a decrease from the 
total of 61 recorded in November 2017. In the period April to December 2018, there 
were 319 positive interventions with individual rough sleepers, to assist them off the 
streets. This compares favourably with performance in 2017/18 when there were 
304 positive interventions in total.

6. The Council also carries out an estimate of the number of people sleeping rough in 
the City. Oxford’s most recent estimate – also carried out November 2018 - showed 
a small increase from 89 (2017) to 94 individuals. Estimates tend to give a higher 
figure than street counts because they draw upon a wider range of data sources. 
These include information from the rough sleeping outreach team (OxSPOT), 
service providers and teams within the Council.

7. The Council provides an estimate in addition to street count data in order to make 
comparisons with the other Oxfordshire districts, which only undertake estimates 
rather than street counts. This is due to the mostly rural nature of the districts. 

8. The difference between the street count and estimate figures reflects the different 
methodologies used. For example, whilst the street count is necessarily limited by 
the number of people that are counted within the 4 hour period of the count, the 
intelligence-based estimate is based on the knowledge of multiple agencies which 
engage with many more individuals than can be counted within this time.

9. Across the county, the number of individuals identified by District Council estimates 
were broadly in line with figures for the previous year – Cherwell 9 (2017) to 11 
(2018), South Oxfordshire 2 (2017) to 3 (2018), Vale of White Horse 10 (2017) to 9 
(2018) – with the exception of West Oxfordshire which saw a reduction from 7 
(2017) to 2 (2018). 

10.Both Oxford City’s street count and estimate continue to show that a significant 
proportion of people sleeping rough in Oxford do not have a local connection to the 

25



City (up to 30%, 2018 Estimate) and also that the connection status of several 
individuals is unknown (22%, 2018 Estimate).1

11.Similarly, 13% of those identified at the November 2018 street count had a 
connection to Oxford, whilst 15% were connected to one of the other Oxfordshire 
District Council areas2. Table 1 below summarises the findings of the November 
2018 street count and estimate with regard to local connection status3.

Connection Count 
2018 % Estimate 

2018 %

City of Oxford 6 13% 9 10%
Other Oxfordshire District 7 16% 11 12%
Other UK connection 0 0% 2 2%
No Local Connection 11 24% 26 28%
Exemption 0 0% 1 1%
Pathway Connection 1 2% 5 5%
Investigating 5 11% 19 20%
Unknown 15 33% 21 22%

Total 45 99% 94 100%

12.As a result of the latest estimates, it is clear that the Oxfordshire Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s target to “ensure that the number of people estimated to be 
sleeping rough in Oxfordshire does not exceed the baseline figure from 2016/17 
(79)” has not been met in 2018/19. 

13.This underlines the need for continued collaboration and cooperative working 
between all the key strategic partners to ensure an effective response to meeting 
the needs of single homeless people across the whole county, and not simply in 
Oxford. 

Impact of changes to funding for housing related support services
14.Oxfordshire County Council previously funded all supported accommodation for 

single homeless people and rough sleepers across the County through its’ Housing 
Related Support budget. A total of 285 units of supported accommodation were 
provided across the County, with 252 of these based in the City but including 
provision for people from the Districts.

1 Individuals identified by the count are categorised as ‘unknown’ either because - they have been 
recently referred to Oxford SPOT [Street Population Outreach Team] and little is known about them; the 
person is not actively engaging with the making information gathering difficult; the person has been seen 
only a few times and it has not been possible to investigate and obtain information.
2 Of those identified as having a connection to one of the Oxfordshire District Council areas 9% (4) had a 
local connection to Cherwell (15% (9) in 2017), 2% (1) had a local connection to South Oxfordshire  (2% 
(1) in 2017), 2% (1) had a local connection to Vale of the White Horse (3% (2) in 2017) and 2% (1) had a 
local connection to West Oxfordshire (2% (1) in 2017) 
3 For breakdown of local connection to the Oxfordshire Districts please see above. Please note that due 
to rounding percentages may not total to 100%.

26



15.As a result of substantial reductions to its overall funding, the County Council 
declared its’ intention in 2015 to reduce its’ budget for Housing Related Support 
(previously £1.5m per annum) by 100%. Subsequently, the County Council agreed 
to maintain its’ budget at £500,000 per annum to 2018/19. 

16.To mitigate the impact of this reduction in funding and maintain the supply of 
supported accommodation for single homeless people, Oxford City Council, 
together with the Oxfordshire District Councils, Oxfordshire County Council and 
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group agreed to contribute to a pooled budget 
and enter into joint commissioning arrangements for a period of three years 
[2017/18 to 2019/20]. 

17.2019/20 will be the third and final year of the current pooled budget arrangements 
for the countywide Adult Homeless Pathway. This successful collaboration has 
served to maintain a supply of jointly commissioned bed spaces as part of the Adult 
Homeless Pathway, albeit at a reduced level. This has been also complemented by 
the City and District Councils’ commissioning of their own supply of supported 
accommodation. 

18.Currently, there are a total of 108 jointly commissioned beds all of which are located 
in Oxford (79 of these are reserved for City use only). 

19.As detailed at Appendix A, the City Council will directly commission in addition to 
this allocation a total of 140 further bed spaces in 2019/20. Together, the 
Oxfordshire District Councils directly commissioned in 2018/19 a further 55 bed 
spaces for people with a connection to their locality of which 10 are in Oxford and 
the remainder are in other locations across the county.

20.Discussions are underway with the Joint Commissioning Group partners about 
continuing the pooled budget arrangements. Oxford City Council is committed to 
continuing this arrangement and this has now been agreed in principle with the 
other partners. The City’s annual contribution towards the continuation of these 
arrangements in 2020/21 and 2021/22 is expected to be £219,700 [current 
contribution of £161,700 plus additional contribution of £58,000]. 

21.Currently, the City Council’s annual contribution to the pooled budget is £161,700. 
In years one and two of the arrangement [2017/18 and 2018/19] additional funding 
of £323,400 was drawn from reserves to cover the cost of the contribution. In 
2019/20 and subsequent years, it is expected that this cost will be covered from 
homelessness prevention fund core budget of £1,583,447 [see paragraph 46 
below].

Ensuring sufficient provision to meet Oxford City’s needs
22. In order to compensate for the reduction in capacity, Oxford City Council has 

increased the number of beds that it commissions directly. In addition to the 79 
beds commissioned via the pooled budget exclusively for City use, the City Council 
has commissioned in 2018/19 a further 132 bed spaces, including 20 sit up spaces. 

23.This provision includes the commissioning of 22 beds for people with complex 
needs at Simon House, which the City Council took over in 2018/19 following the 
County Council’s de-commissioning of this 52 bed hostel. In September 2017 CEB 
agreed to allocate funding for 5 years from 2019/20 for the delivery of a new facility 
for rough sleepers and single homeless people at Rymers Lane in Cowley. 

27



24.The new facility is expected to open Quarter 2 2019/20 and will comprise 22 units of 
accommodation for people with complex needs and 15 units of move on 
accommodation. Simon House will remain open during the first Quarter of 2019/20 
and a plan to manage the transition of the service and residents to the new facility is 
in place.

25.This level of commissioning for the city has been made possible by the City 
Council’s allocation of additional funding for services and support for rough sleepers 
and single homeless people in 2018/19 (£100,000) and from 2019/20 onwards, 
through the inclusion of a further £200,000 in the core budget for rough sleeping 
and single homelessness. 

26. It has also been made possible as a result of the Council’s successful bid in 2018 to 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s [MHCLG] Rough 
Sleeping Initiative (RSI), which yielded just over £1,000,000 towards the delivery of 
new services and pilot initiatives in 2018/19 and 2019/20. 

27.These have included in 2018/19 the development of a multi-agency service hub, 
two winter shelters, new services piloting dedicated services for women and people 
with drug and alcohol addictions, and a significant expansion of outreach service 
capacity (OxSPOT).

28.Officers are awaiting confirmation from MHCLG regarding the RSI allocation for 
2019/20, however the table attached at Appendix A summarises the 
accommodation provided in 2018/19 and what is expected to be available in 
2019/20. 

Further funding opportunities
29. In August 2018, the government published a new strategy for rough sleeping which 

sets out the government’s vision for halving rough sleeping by 2022 and ending it by 
2027. This was followed in December 2018 with the publication of an action plan 
which confirms the government’s intention to provide funding to help deliver its 
strategy.

30.The funding opportunities published so far, including the Rapid Rehousing Pathway 
and Private Rented Sector Access Funds, offer the potential to do more and 
develop new approaches to service delivery. However, they offer relatively short 
term funding and are competitive in nature. 

31.Despite this, in November 2018, officers submitted a major bid to the MHCLG’s 
Rapid Rehousing Pathway (RRP) Fund, which offered revenue funding during 
2019/20 for a range of initiatives including

 Somewhere Safe to Stay (SStS) – assessment and short term accommodation 
hubs based on the No Second / No First Night Out service model

 Navigators – to provide joined-up support for individuals, particularly chronic and 
entrenched rough sleepers, throughout their journey from the street to long term, 
sustainable accommodation options

 Local Lettings Agencies – to help clients to access accommodation in the 
Private Rented Sector (PRS)

 Supported Lettings – provision of floating support for tenancy sustainment

32.We have received confirmation in February 2019 that our bid to be an “Early 
Adopter” for ‘Navigators’ has been successful. Our bid for the three other elements 

28



was not accepted in this first round, and in the case of Somewhere Safe to Stay we 
understand that this was due to our not being able to provide the service 
immediately, eg. in the quarter following bid submission. However, we have had 
positive feedback on the bid and officers are hopeful that we will be successful in 
the second round which is expected in the final quarter of 2018/19.

33.The process of assembling this bid – and a parallel bid to the Private Rented Sector 
(PRS) Access Fund which is offering revenue funding to March 2020 for schemes 
designed to increase access to or sustain tenancies within the PRS for single 
people who are or at risk of becoming homeless – has however enabled officers to 
develop a proposal that aims to:

 Increase the scope and effectiveness of ‘front-end’ engagement and 
assessment services

 Provide extra emergency accommodation open to all rough sleepers (including 
those with No Local Connection (NLC) and No Recourse to Public Funds 
(NRPF)) every night throughout the winter

 Develop the range and effectiveness of sustainable Move On routes and options 
for individuals that are eligible for pathway accommodation and those that are 
not

 Consolidate and improve the efficiency of accommodation and other services, 
including for those with no local connection and / or recourse to public funds, 
and vulnerable groups including women

34.The centrepiece of this proposal is the Somewhere Safe to Stay in Oxford provision.  
A Council-owned building at Floyd’s Row in the city centre, has been identified as 
an option for this provision.  However, substantial capital investment is needed to 
refurbish the building and officers are concerned that the current lack of a capital 
element in the RRP Fund may prove to be a barrier to award. 

35.With this in mind, but also in light of the City Executive Board’s aspiration to deliver 
from winter 2019/20 winter emergency accommodation that is open every night to 
all rough sleepers4, the Council has been asked to include / has included within its 
budget for 2019/20 a total one-off sum of £337,000 (comprising £184,000 capital5 
and £153,000 revenue). This will be used to fund the initial development works at 
Floyds Row and deliver this winter emergency accommodation, which is currently 
not eligible for any of the available MHCLG funding streams. 

Use of Homelessness Prevention Funds in 2018/19
36.Last year’s report by the Head of Housing Services on the allocation of 

homelessness prevention funds indicated that a total of £1,834,853 had been 
allocated for the delivery of services and support for rough sleepers and single 
homeless people in 2018/19. 

37.This sum was later adjusted in order to mitigate budget pressures elsewhere in the 
Housing Needs service. This meant that the forecast carry forward of £142,906 into 
2018/19 did not happen. However, as indicated in last year’s report, members 
approved further additional transfers to the Homelessness Reserve. As a result, a 
sum of £98,000 is available to be drawn down in 2019/20.

4 Including those with No Local Connection (NLC) and No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF)) 
5 “£125,000 was already included within the existing capital programme and a further £59,000 has been 
added to give a total capital allocation of £184,000 for this initiative.

29



38.Similarly, funding from reserves allocated for the expansion of the Acacia Service in 
2018/19 has not in fact been drawn down. This has been due to the need to find a 
new way forward for the Acacia and Housing First Services which both increases 
capacity, ensures that there is essential mental health input to the service, facilitates 
stronger partnership working between providers and allows for future expansion 
should further funding become available. 

39. Instead, a new combined Acacia / Housing First Service will be commissioned to 
deliver 15 units of accommodation from 1st April 2019 and the unspent allocation 
from reserves for this purpose is included in the budget for 2019/20 (£59,750). The 
service will play an important role in supporting the most entrenched and chronic 
rough sleepers to move off the streets. 

40.Members are asked to approve the recommendation that the Council enter into 24 
month [1st April 2019 to 31st March 2021] grant agreements with the Response 
Organisation and Homeless Oxfordshire to deliver the combined Acacia / Housing 
First Service. The allocation of £59,750 from reserves in 2019/20 mitigates the total 
cost of the service over this period making it sustainable within the core budget 
allocation for 2019/20 and 2020/21.

41.The Council has also submitted a bid to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government’s Cold Weather Fund, which offers funding towards the cost of 
providing additional winter services. Funding allocations are based on the number 
of people sleeping rough in the locality (2017 figures) and on this basis and 
following discussions with MHCLG, we have made the assumption that a total of 
£35,000 can be secured in 2018/19.

42.This will off-set the forecast overspend in relation to SWEP where officers have 
forecast spending to be up to £50,000 against the original allocation of £30,000. 
This is the result of needing to increase safety and security arrangements for SWEP 
to ensure that all those that need to access the service are able to do so whilst 
ensuring the safety of others. It also reflects the increased use of discretion to open 
SWEP winter 2018/19 outside of the standard protocol. Due to the unpredictability 
of SWEP operation it is not possible to give a precise figure for the expected over-
spend until year end.

43.Finally, the sum of £11,959 has been drawn down in year from the Homelessness 
Reserve to ease the pressure created because the intended carry forward from 
2017/18 did not happen [see paragraph 37 above] and to off-set two other areas of 
over spend. These are against OxThink (£2,497) where additional spending was 
needed to ensure the Council’s data system is fit for purpose following the 
significant expansion of accommodation based services and a commitment to 
Aspire (£5,000) for the development of a service hub. 

44.Taking account of these adjustments, a total of £1,695,106 was available for and 
allocated to the delivery of services and support for rough sleepers and single 
homeless people in 2018/19. This sum does not include RSI funding or the 
additional funding allocated by the Council to support the development of the City 
Conversation, a citywide partnership to tackle issues relating to rough sleeping and 
single homelessness.

City Conversation on Rough Sleeping - spending 2018/19
45.The rapid and very visible increase in the number of people sleeping rough on the 

City’s street continues to generate widespread public concern – about the issue 

30



itself and what is being done about it. As part of its response, the Council has 
initiated a citywide conversation on rough sleeping to explore the causes and 
possible solutions to the problem.

46. In February 2018, the Council allocated a total of £150,000 to be drawn from the 
Council’s reserves towards the development of a Rough Sleeping Charter for 
Oxford and citywide partnership and to fund additional staffing capacity within the 
Rough Sleeping and Single Homeless Team to co-ordinate and support the 
Council’s engagement with the developing Charter and partnership, during 2018/19 
and 2019/20. The forecast spend against this allocation is a total of £93,000 to 31st 
March 2019.

47.The main work of the Partnership is being taken forward by four working groups 
accountable to a Steering Group. They are delivering a Charter, a brand and 
website, improving information about rough sleeping and coordination of efforts to 
address rough sleeping as well as a fund raising programme including alternative 
giving. Alternative giving will build upon the recent successful Christmas Match 
Fund appeal which the Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness Team helped to 
deliver and which raised a total of £86,000 for nine local homelessness charities.

Allocation of Homelessness Prevention Funds 2019/20 

Strategic framework for commissioning and funding 2019/20  
48.The Council’s priorities in terms of tackling rough sleeping and single homelessness 

are set out in Priority 2 [Prevent homelessness and meet the needs of vulnerable 
people and rough sleepers] of its Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2018-2021 
summarised at Appendix B – Strategic Priorities for preventing homelessness and 
meeting the needs of vulnerable people and rough sleepers. Consideration is also 
given to the national rough sleeping strategy published 2018.

Funding 2019/20
49.On 13th February the Council agreed its budget and Medium Term Financial Plan 

for the period 2019-20 to 2022-23 which included a base budget of provision of 
£1,141,168 per annum. A further commissioning budget is also available from the 
Council’s own grant budget of £442,279.

50. It is also assumed that the City Council will continue to receive a total contribution 
from the Oxfordshire District Councils towards SWEP provision of £3,000. 

51.Finally, a total of £59,750 [unspent reserves] towards the delivery of additional 
Housing First / Acacia units in 2019/20 and 2020/21 [see Paragraphs 29 to 31 
above] is included in the budget along with the £93,000 added to the homelessness 
reserve in 2018/19 and a further £5,000 from this reserve to cover the continued 
contribution to Emmaus. This brings the total funding available in 2019/20 to 
£1,744,197. This total does not include additional funding from the Rough Sleeping 
Initiative or any future successful funding bids.

52.Reflecting the cross-commissioning agenda and cross-strategy advantages of 
homeless prevention and ending rough sleeping work, a multi-agency steering 
group is responsible for advising on the monitoring of this pooled budget. The group 
comprises of representatives from Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire County Council 
Joint Commissioning Team, Public Health and the Oxfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group.

31



Expected developments in 2019/20
53.As discussed in Paragraphs 20 to 26 above, officers hope to secure additional 

external funding towards the development of services in 2019/20 and beyond. If 
secured, these funds will be used to develop the proposed services outlined at 
Paragraph 22. This will in turn require significant transformation of services with 
possible financial implications in order to re-shape existing provision to release 
funding for and ensure alignment with the new service structure.  

54. It is already clear that certain enablers are required to optimise the success of the 
proposed services. These include:

 The need for a countywide strategy and collaborative working with Housing 
Related Support (HRS) Joint Management Group partners6 to end rough 
sleeping, including a commitment to develop more locality-based services for 
people with a connection to the Oxfordshire District Council areas 

 Medium term (3-5 year) strategy, action and financial plan that reflect the true 
cost of delivering services for some of the most vulnerable people in our society, 
are needed to deliver a strategic approach that garners the support and 
motivation of key stakeholders including supported accommodation and other 
service providers

 In line with the above, a move away from an annual commissioning cycle 
towards longer term commissioning and procurement of services which test the 
market where appropriate and afford greater certainty to both providers and the 
Council as commissioner

 Tailored and resourced approach to meeting the needs of specific groups 
including people with drug and alcohol addictions, women, people with 
disabilities, older people, LGBT people, and people with no local connection or 
recourse to public funds. 

55.More work is needed to develop and refine the approach and costings for the 
proposed development of Floyds Row and related services. Officers will update the 
Portfolio Holder on progress towards this and will bring a further, more detailed 
report on this matter, including the proposed timescales for changes to current 
commissioning arrangements to City Executive Board in the summer.

Proposed allocations 2019/20
56.With this in mind, the proposed allocations for 2019/20 are shown at Appendix D. 
57. In summary, it is proposed that spending across all service areas including 

supported accommodation, street engagement, services to prevent and relieve 
homelessness and for positive activities and to help people get into work and 
training, is maintained at the same level as in 2018/19.

58. It is recommended that the following changes are made to previous allocations:

6 Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire County Council, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, Cherwell 
District Council, South Oxfordshire District Council, Vale of White Horse District Council, West 
Oxfordshire District Council

32



 Big Issue Service Broker – that this Payment by Results contract is ended and a 
contingency of £3,125 is made available to facilitate this

 OxTHINK – allocation increased from £4,396 in 2018/19 to £5,272 to cover 
costs relating to the continuation of licence agreements for service providers’ 
staff and further system development. This allocation to be reviewed in year to 
take account of alternative ICT solutions, including the new housing database.

 Emmaus – that funding is reduced from £10,000 in 2018/19  to £5,000 and will 
taper to zero in 2020/21 in recognition of the fact that Emmaus’ second-hand 
furniture superstore is expected to be financially self-sustaining in 2020/21 and 
will continue to provide work opportunities 

 Network development - £5,000 towards the development and delivery of a 
programme of networking, learning and development for commissioned service 
providers’ staff and others as appropriate

 Access to leisure services - £5,000 to support former rough sleepers to access 
the Council’s leisure facilities free of charge.

 Contingency for Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness - £1,587 allocated 
for in-year changes to committed allocations.

59.A diagram outlining the Adult Homeless Pathway and other services funded by the 
Council for the benefit of rough sleepers and single homeless people is provided at 
Appendix E. 

60. It is recommended that the Head of Housing has the delegated authority, in 
consultation with the Portfolio holder, to administer any necessary changes to these 
allocations.   

Financial implications
61.The budgeted spend on homelessness prevention for 2019/20 is estimated at 

£1,744,197 funded as follows :

Item £’s Notes
Homelessness base 
budget

941,168

Voluntary sector grants 
budget

442,279

Additional funding from 
OCC base budget

200,000

Acacia Housing First 
Project

59,750 Raised from reserves 2016/17 
towards delivery of Acacia Service

From homelessness 
reserves

98,000 £93,000 added to the reserve 19th 
February 2018 plus additional 

£5,000 to cover cost of continued 
contribution to Emmaus 

SWEP provision 3,000 Contribution from District Councils

33



Total £1,744,197

Performance monitoring
62. In distributing this budget, the Council will ensure that there are clear outcomes and 

targets in each organisation’s service specification which are reported on quarterly. 
63.Officers will schedule quarterly, 6-monthly or annual performance monitoring 

meetings with all services to ensure that outcomes and targets are achieved and 
issues are addressed in a timely and professional manner.

64.The Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness Team will also prepare an executive 
summary of the collated performance data which will be shared with the Preventing 
Homelessness Group and Portfolio Holder on a quarterly basis. 

Legal issues
65.All services funded from Homelessness Prevention Funds have Service Level 

Agreements in place. The SLAs covers obligations for services as well as 
consequences for not fulfilling these obligations.

Level of risk
66.The Risk Register is attached as Appendix F.

Equalities impact 
67.All services in receipt of funding are subject to rigorous monitoring which includes 

equality and diversity.

Conclusion
68.The proposed funding allocation for 2019/20 will ensure that the Council continues 

to provide an increasingly broad range of services for rough sleepers and single 
homeless people and rough sleepers to prevent and tackle rough sleeping, and 
support individuals to live and sustain independent lives.

69.Thorough review and evaluation of all services funded in 2019/20 will be carried out 
in year to inform future funding decisions.

Report author Rachel Lawrence

Job title Rough Sleeping & Single Homelessness 
Manager

Service area or department Housing Services
Telephone 01865 529 117
e-mail rlawrence@oxford.gov.uk

Background Papers:
1 None

34



35



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A – Supported Accommodation for City Use 2018/19 and 2019/20

Service Provider(s) 2018/19 2019/20

O'Hanlon Hse - City Homeless Oxfordshire 27 27
Mayday Trust Mayday 21 21
Connections Support Connections & Response 31 31
Commissioned via pooled budget for 
City use  79 79

  
Project 41 Homeless Oxfordshire 41 41
Simon House - transition 2018/19 A2Dominion 22 0
Rymer's Lane - Complex Needs A2Dominion 0 22
Mayday Trust Mayday 10 10
Housing First Homeless Oxfordshire 5 5

Acacia - existing Response, Homeless 
Oxfordshire 5 5

Acacia - capacity increase Response, Homeless 
Oxfordshire 0 5

EEA Migrants Service St Mungo's / Homeless 
Oxfordshire 0 1

City Council commissioned for City use  83 89
  
O'Hanlon Hse - City - SIT UP Homeless Oxfordshire 10 10
Rymer's Lane - Complex Needs Move On A2Dominion 0 15

Emergency bed in Young People's Pathway Via Oxfordshire County 
Council 1 1

Additional capacity available for City use  11 26

  
O'Hanlon Hse - City - SIT UP expansion Homeless Oxfordshire 10 10
Women only pilot Homeless Oxfordshire 5 5
Winter Shelter - Simon House A2Dominion 8 0 
Winter Shelter - London Place A2Dominion 6  0
Rehab units Homeless Oxfordshire 7 7
Green Templeton College Aspire 0 0
Move On units Homeless Oxfordshire 3 3
  
MHCLG / RSI-funded provision  39 25

    

Total available for City use  212 219

37



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B – Strategic priorities for preventing homelessness and meeting the 
needs of vulnerable people and rough sleepers

To prevent homelessness and meet the needs of vulnerable people we will: 

 Increase the focus on early intervention and preventing homelessness in line 
with new homelessness duties, supporting and advising people to sustain their 
accommodation and access services they need. 

 Increase Young People's awareness of housing issues by establishing 
Homeless Prevention work into curriculum for 15/16 year olds attending Oxford 
Schools. 

 Develop stronger and broader working relations and new partnership 
approaches with stakeholders to facilitate a collaboratively co-designed City-
wide framework and response to preventing and tackling homelessness and 
rough sleeping. 

 Successfully implement the Homelessness Prevention Trailblazer project, 
investing in early intervention and solutions to prevent households from 
becoming homeless, including joint work with partners to improve discharges 
from hospitals or prison. 

 Ensure our homelessness services remain among the best in the country, 
recognised by maintaining the national ‘Gold Standard’. 

 Minimise the number of households in Temporary Accommodation by increasing 
access to longer term housing solutions. 

 Ensure sufficient provision of suitable Temporary Accommodation, at best value 
to the Council, to avoid the use of Bed and Breakfast accommodation.

To reduce rough sleeping and single homelessness we will:

 Increase our focus on early intervention and preventing single homelessness 
and rough sleeping. 

 Work to establish a city-wide partnership that works collaboratively to deliver 
effective, long-term solutions to rough sleeping and homelessness, and the 
creation of an agreed City-wide framework for Oxford. 

 Ensure provision of a proactive and collaborative outreach service to provide 
improved prevention, diversion and reconnection work (No First Night Out), with 
a rapid assessment focus (No Second Night Out) and personalised services (No 
Living on the Streets). 

 Explore feasible options to accommodate and/or support homeless rough 
sleepers in the City who have no local connection to the City or anywhere else, 
and no recourse to public funds. 

 Ensure a sufficient and appropriate mix of supported accommodation, with 
appropriate levels of support to match needs. 

 Ensure the provision of an effective pathway of accommodation and specialist 
housing (including use of the ‘Housing First’ model) to help people move on from 
hostels to permanent settled housing. 

 Reduce evictions from supported housing, especially through more work with 
partners, including mental health services (No Return to the Streets). 

39



 Work in partnership to support clients to progress through the adult homeless 
pathway and to maintain settled accommodation with wrap around services, 
including training and employment initiatives, and effective floating support 
provision. 

 Ensure adequate crisis accommodation, including reviewing winter and severe 
weather provision. 

 Work with the Police, Community Safety and others to tackle unacceptable anti-
social behaviour, health and safety risks and criminal activity on Oxford’s streets 
to improve life for all of Oxford’s residents, safeguard those involved and at risk 
of criminal exploitation, and encourage clients to engage with services. 

 Actively work to promote and support an ‘Alternative Giving Campaign’ linked to 
anti-begging initiatives, to raise additional resources for homeless services.

40



.

Appendix C – Commitments made and forecast year end position 2018/19

Service areas Provider Allocation 
2018/19

Forecast to 
year end Purpose

Supported 
accommodation  £731,575 751,575  

Contribution Oxfordshire 
Pooled Budget for the Adult 
Homeless Pathway

Oxfordshire AHP / 
Oxfordshire CC 
commissioner

£161,700 £161,700 Provision of supported housing. 

NSNO Sit-up Service - 
O'Hanlon House Homeless Oxfordshire £54,903 £54,903

Funding for 10 additional spaces to help manage the high number 
of rough sleepers. Capacity was increased in year to 20 spaces as 
a result of the Council being awarded RSI [Rough Sleeping 
Initiative] funding.

Housing First - Julian 
Housing Homeless Oxfordshire £47,850 £47,850

Funding for 1 FTE Support Worker & 0.5 FTE Peer Support Worker 
for this specialist housing project. Offers an alternative supported 
housing model aimed at getting entrenched rough sleepers 
permanently off the streets. 

Acacia existing x 5 Response £47,850 £47,850

Funding for 5 units of specialist supported housing for people with 
complex needs.  The Acacia Project builds on the Housing First 
model and has developed as a result of recognition by housing and 
mental health service commissioners of an increasing number of 
people who “fall between the gaps” of mental health services and 
homelessness services, getting ineffective support from either or 
both due to their needs. 

41



Acacia – service expansion Response / Homeless 
Oxfordshire £0 £0

Funding was allocated from reserves in 2016/17 to fund the 
expansion of the Acacia project by 5 additional units of specialist 
supported housing units for people with complex needs. 

Unfortunately, due to competing work priorities and the need to find 
a new way forward for the Acacia and Housing First Services it has 
not been possible to deliver this expansion in 2018/19. Instead, a 
new combined Acacia / Housing First Service will be commissioned 
to deliver a total of 15 units of accommodation from 1st April 2019. 
£59,750 from reserves has been included in the budget for 2019/20 
for this purpose.

Project 41 Homeless Oxfordshire £150,000 £150,000

Funding for 41 units of supported accommodation for rough 
sleepers and single homeless people with a connection to the City 
of Oxford. Provision for medium to low support needs with a focus 
on support to enable residents to move on to and sustain 
independent accommodation. 

SIMON HOUSE - 
Transitional service 
2018/19 22 units complex 
needs

A2Dominion £200,000 £200,000

Funding for a transitional service of up to 22 units of supported 
accommodation at Simon House for people with complex needs 
and a connection to Oxford City. This allocation retained the facility 
of Simon House which would otherwise have closed as a result of 
County Council funding cuts and has allowed time for the 
development of a new facility for rough sleepers and single 
homeless people at Rymers Lane in Cowley which is due to open 
Q2 2019/20.

Mayday Trust 10 units Mayday Trust £39,272 £39,272

Funding for 10 units of supported accommodation for people with 
complex needs, in dispersed locations. This allocation will retain 
these units of supported accommodation for rough sleepers and 
single homeless people which would otherwise have closed as a 
result of County Council funding cuts.  

Severe Weather Beds - 
various

Various including 
Homeless Oxfordshire, St 
Mungo's, Aspire, 
A2Dominion

£30,000 £50,000

Funding to provide additional emergency bed spaces in periods of 
severe weather for all rough sleepers who need them. 

A potential overspend of up to £20,000 is forecast as a result of the 
need arising in year to increase safety and security arrangements 

42



for SWEP to ensure that all those that need to access the service 
are able to do so whilst ensuring the safety of others. It also reflects 
the increased use of discretion to open SWEP winter 2018/19 
outside of the standard protocol. Due to the unpredictability of 
SWEP operation it is not possible to confirm a precise figure for the 
over-spend.

Street Engagement  £398,393 £398,393  

Street Outreach and Single 
Homeless Service - St 
Mungo's Broadway

St Mungo's £350,893 £350,893

Funding for a team of 9 FTE to deliver an assertive outreach, 
reconnection, personalisation and advice service for rough sleepers 
and single homeless people. The team helps rough sleepers to 
access suitable accommodation and support in the City, 
Oxfordshire and elsewhere with the aim of reducing the number of 
people who spend a second night on the street, live on or return to 
the streets. Capacity was increased in year as a result of the 
Council being awarded RSI [Rough Sleeping Initiative] funding.

Rough Sleeping & Street 
activity service - TVP Thames Valley Police £30,000 £30,000

Funding for TVP City Centre Unit to provide targeted support to 
reduce rough sleeping through outreach, enforcement, tackling 
begging and anti-social behaviour. TVP City Centre Unit has a 
dedicated police constable for the purpose of this work. 

City Centre Ambassadors Oxford City Council £17,500 £17,500

The City Centre Ambassadors provide a visible presence within 
Oxford City Centre.  They assist people with enquiries, liaise with 
businesses to keep the city centre clean and litter free, and work 
closely with the police to spot and deter anti-social behaviour.  They 
engage with homeless people, referring them into the appropriate 
support services. 

Preventing homelessness  £163,630 £163,630  

Tenancy Sustainment 
Officer - Elmore 

Elmore Community 
Services £35,630 £35,630

Funding for 1 FTE specialist sustainment officer to support 
residents in Oxford City Council accommodation to maintain their 
tenancies. 

43



Pre-tenancy training course 
- Connection Connection Support £16,000 £16,000 Funding to provide courses to help 50 people develop a range of 

skills that will enable them to become tenancy ready.

Welfare Reform Outreach 
Team Oxford City Council £82,000 £82,000 Funding contribution towards the work of a team focussing on the 

impact of welfare reform across the City

Target 
Hardening/Sanctuary 
Scheme

Oxford City Council £30,000 £30,000
Funding provided for a post in the Anti-Social Behaviour Team to 
support victims of domestic abuse and enable them to stay in their 
own homes. 

Positive activities & help 
to get into work  £243,481 £248,481  

O'Hanlon House Day 
Centre Homeless Oxfordshire £82,778 £82,778

Funding for provision of day services – showers and laundry 
facilities as well as breakfast and lunch and any other activities 
taking place – for individuals rough sleeping in the City and working 
with outreach services to access suitable accommodation.

Gatehouse Café Gatehouse £5,580 £5,580 Core funding for the Gatehouse café, to support and engage hard 
to reach clients to access accommodation and specialist support 

The Porch Day Centre The Porch £55,000 £55,000

Core funding for The Porch (formerly known as Steppin’ Stone) 
daycentre to support rough sleepers and those vulnerably housed 
through a range of activities, training and education and where 
appropriate sign post clients to more appropriate services. 

Aspire Aspire Oxford £77,623 £77,623

Funding for 2 FTE Education, Training and Employment workers to 
provide training and employment opportunities for homeless and/or 
vulnerably housed individuals in the City. Aspire is a social 
enterprise working towards becoming self-sufficient. 

Aspire Aspire Oxford £0 £5,000

Funding towards delivery of a one-off service hub project in 
2017/18. These funds have been used to create supervised and 
supported voluntary work placements for Aspire trainees to help 
design, refurbish and redecorate the Makespace hub, and later the 
sister Open House project on Little Clarendon St;

44



Emmaus Emmaus £10,000 £10,000

Core funding for Emmaus to provide accommodation in their 
community and work opportunities in their second-hand furniture 
social enterprise. A clause in the agreement enables the Council to 
taper the grant as the business moves towards self-sufficiency.

Service Broker - The Big 
Issue Foundation The Big Issue Foundation £12,500 £12,500

Funding for 1 FTE to support Big Issues sellers into accommodation 
and into sustainable work opportunities. This contract will continue 
to be within a payment by results framework.

Priority Services for 
Young People  £6,134 £6,134  

Emergency Bed for Young 
Person in Oxford city

Oxfordshire County 
Council £6,134 £6,134 Funding provides one emergency bed within the Young Person’s 

pathway for use by Oxford City.

Other  £124,396 £126,893  

Single Homelessness 
Team (current 
arrangements)

Oxford City Council £120,000 £120,000 Funding contribution towards the Council’s Rough Sleeping and 
Single Homelessness Team. 

OxfordCHAIN Real Systems £4,396 £6,893

Core funding to maintain web-based database management system 
that collates data and provides monitoring reports on rough 
sleeping. The forecast spend for this areas is £6,893 due to the 
need to ensure that provider’s operational staff are able to access 
the system, deliver training in how to use the system and 
developments to improve the quality of data and reporting 
capability.

In year commissioning TBC £0 £0
Funding has been put aside in order for officers to respond to 
unmet need by commissioning services addressing emerging 
service gaps. 

In year allocation from 
homelessness reserve N/A £0 £19,462 This sum has been drawn down in year from the Homelessness 

Reserve in order to ensure a balanced budget. 

45



Total 
allocated/committed  £1,695,106 £1,695,106  

Balance / overspend -£0 -£0

46



.

Appendix D – Proposed allocation of homelessness prevention funds 2019/20

Service areas Provider
Proposed 

allocation 2019/20 Purpose

Supported 
accommodation  £810,075  

Contribution Oxfordshire 
Pooled Budget for the Adult 
Homeless Pathway

Oxfordshire AHP / 
Oxfordshire CC 
commissioner

£161,700

Provision of supported housing.

This sum plus an additional £58,000 will be required from 2020/21 in order 
to maintain the City Council’s membership of the pooled budget for the 
Adult Homeless.

NSNO Sit-up Service - 
O'Hanlon House Homeless Oxfordshire £54,903

Funding for 10 additional spaces to help manage the high number of rough 
sleepers. Capacity increased in 2018/19 and 2019/20 to 20 spaces as a 
result of the Council being awarded RSI [Rough Sleeping Initiative] funding.

Housing First - Julian 
Housing Homeless Oxfordshire £47,850

Funding for 1 FTE Support Worker & 0.5 FTE Peer Support Worker for this 
specialist housing project. Offers an alternative supported housing model 
aimed at getting entrenched rough sleepers permanently off the streets. 

Acacia existing x 5 Response £47,850

Funding for 5 units of specialist supported housing for people with complex 
needs.  The Acacia Project builds on the Housing First model and has 
developed as a result of recognition by housing and mental health service 
commissioners of an increasing number of people who “fall between the 
gaps” of mental health services and homelessness services, getting 
ineffective support from either or both due to their needs.

Acacia  additional units - 
pending Response £59,750

Funding was allocated from reserves in 2016/17 to fund the expansion of 
the Acacia project by 5 additional units of specialist supported housing units 
for people with complex needs. A new combined Acacia / Housing First 
Service will be commissioned to deliver a total of 15 units of 

47



accommodation from 1st April 2019.

Project 41 Homeless Oxfordshire £150,000

Funding for 41 units of supported accommodation for rough sleepers and 
single homeless people with a connection to the City of Oxford. Provision 
for medium to low support needs with a focus on support to enable 
residents to move on to and sustain independent accommodation. 

SIMON HOUSE - 
Transitional service Q1 
2019/20 22 units complex 
needs

A2Dominion £50,000 
Funding for a transitional service of up to 22 units of supported 
accommodation at Simon House for people with complex needs and a 
connection to Oxford City for Q1 2019/20. 

RYMERS LANE - 
Transitional service 22 units 
complex needs from Q2 
2019/20

A2Dominion £168,750
Funding for 22 units of supported accommodation for people with complex 
needs and 15 units move on accommodation. The new facility for rough 
sleepers and single homeless people at Rymers Lane in Cowley is due to 
open Q2 2019/20.

Mayday Trust 10 units Mayday Trust £39,272

Funding for 10 units of supported accommodation for people with complex 
needs, in dispersed locations. This allocation will retain these units of 
supported accommodation for rough sleepers and single homeless people 
which would otherwise have closed as a result of County Council funding 
cuts.  

Severe Weather Beds - 
various

Various including 
Homeless Oxfordshire, St 
Mungo's, Aspire, 
A2Dominion

£30,000
Funding to provide additional emergency bed spaces in periods of severe 
weather for all rough sleepers who need them. 

Street Engagement  £398,393  

48



Street Outreach and Single 
Homeless Service - St 
Mungo's Broadway

St Mungo's £350,893

Funding for a team of 9 FTE to deliver an assertive outreach, reconnection, 
personalisation and advice service for rough sleepers and single homeless 
people. The team helps rough sleepers to access suitable accommodation 
and support in the City, Oxfordshire and elsewhere with the aim of reducing 
the number of people who spend a second night on the street, live on or 
return to the streets. Capacity increased in 2018/19 and 2019/20 as a result 
of the Council being awarded RSI [Rough Sleeping Initiative] funding.

Rough Sleeping & Street 
activity service - TVP Thames Valley Police £30,000

Funding for TVP City Centre Unit to provide targeted support to reduce 
rough sleeping through outreach, enforcement, tackling begging and anti-
social behaviour. TVP City Centre Unit has a dedicated police constable for 
the purpose of this work. 

City Centre Ambassadors Oxford City Council £17,500

The City Centre Ambassadors provide a visible presence within Oxford City 
Centre.  They assist people with enquiries, liaise with businesses to keep 
the city centre clean and litter free, and work closely with the police to spot 
and deter anti-social behaviour.  They engage with homeless people, 
referring them into the appropriate support services. 

Preventing homelessness  £163,630  

Tenancy Sustainment 
Officer - Elmore 

Elmore Community 
Services £35,630 Funding for 1 FTE specialist sustainment officer to support residents in 

Oxford City Council accommodation to maintain their tenancies. 

Pre-tenancy training course 
- Connection Connection Support £16,000 Funding to provide courses to help 50 people develop a range of skills that 

will enable them to become tenancy ready.

Welfare Reform Outreach 
Team Oxford City Council £82,000 Funding contribution towards the work of a team focussing on the impact of 

welfare reform across the City

Target 
Hardening/Sanctuary 
Scheme

Oxford City Council £30,000 Funding provided for a post in the Anti-Social Behaviour Team to support 
victims of domestic abuse and enable them to stay in their own homes. 

Positive activities & help  £224,106  

49



to get into work

O'Hanlon House Day 
Centre Homeless Oxfordshire £82,778

Funding for provision of day services – showers and laundry facilities as 
well as breakfast and lunch and any other activities taking place – for 
individuals rough sleeping in the City and working with outreach services to 
access suitable accommodation.

Gatehouse Café Gatehouse £5,580 Core funding for the Gatehouse café, to support and engage hard to reach 
clients to access accommodation and specialist support 

The Porch Day Centre The Porch £55,000

Core funding for The Porch (formerly known as Steppin’ Stone) daycentre 
to support rough sleepers and those vulnerably housed through a range of 
activities, training and education and where appropriate sign post clients to 
more appropriate services. 

Aspire Aspire Oxford £77,623

Funding for 2 FTE Education, Training and Employment workers to provide 
training and employment opportunities for homeless and/or vulnerably 
housed individuals in the City. Aspire is a social enterprise working towards 
becoming self-sufficient. 

Second-hand furniture store Emmaus £5,000

Funding for Emmaus to provide accommodation in their community and 
work opportunities in their second-hand furniture social enterprise, tapering 
to £0 in 2020/21 when the business is expected to be financially self-
sustaining. 

Service Broker - The Big 
Issue Foundation The Big Issue Foundation £3,125

The Big Issue Foundation was previously funded to support Big Issue 
sellers into accommodation and into sustainable work opportunities. 
However, service performance has been unsatisfactory and these 
objectives have not been achieved. It is felt that this has been due to a lack 
of alignment between the Service and the City Council’s aim to move 
people off the street and away from vending the magazine longer term. 

Priority Services for 
Young People  £6,134  

50



Emergency Bed for Young 
Person in Oxford city

Oxfordshire County 
Council £6,134 Funding provides one emergency bed within the Young Person’s pathway 

for use by Oxford City.

Other  £136,859  

Single Homelessness 
Team (current 
arrangements)

Oxford City Council £120,000 Funding contribution towards the Council’s Rough Sleeping and Single 
Homelessness Team. 

OxfordCHAIN Real Systems £5,272

Core funding to maintain web-based database management system that 
collates data and provides monitoring reports on rough sleeping. The 
forecast spend for this areas is £6,893 due to the need to ensure that 
provider’s operational staff are able to access the system, deliver training in 
how to use the system and developments to improve the quality of data and 
reporting capability.

Network development 
programme TBC £5,000

For the development and delivery of a programme of networking, learning 
and development for commissioned service providers’ staff and others as 
appropriate

Access to leisure services TBC £5,000 To support former rough sleepers to access the Council’s leisure facilities 
free of charge.

Contingency TBC £1,587 Funding put aside for in-year changes to committed allocations

Total 
allocated/committed  1,744,197  

51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E – Map of services for rough sleepers and single homeless people in Oxford 2019/20

Oxford City Council – Support for Rough Sleepers and Single Homeless People
OUTREACH/ NEEDS IDENTIFICATION ADULT HOMELESS PATHWAY (Supported Accommodation) POSITIVE MOVE-ON OPTIONS

Priority 1 (“No 
Second Night Out”) & 
Priority 2 (“No Living 

on the Streets”) 
Referrals from SPOT

O’Hanlon House
27 beds

Assessment
 (7 to 10) &

Complex Needs 
(17 to 20) beds

Simon House
25 bed

(Complex, 
Progression & 

Abstinence beds)

Rough Sleeping Initiative 
(RSI)

23 beds
Women, Pre-rehab, Winter
(Progression & Move on)

Access to another 
pathway (e.g. Mental 
Health or Substance 

Misuse)

Long Term Care/ 
Support (including 

Hospital)

Oxford Street Population 
Outreach TeamSPOT)
 Assertive Outreach
 Verification
 Rapid Assessment
 Referrals
 Advice and Assistance
 Personalisation
 Diversion & 

Reconnection

Housing First &
Acacia
15 beds

(Entrenched/ 
Complex)

Mayday Trust
21 beds

(Complex, 
Progression & 

Move-on)

Connection Support
31 beds

(Progression & Move-on)

Private Rented 
Sector, inc: Real 

Lettings;  Re-
Connect; Edge / 

Churches Housing

Social Housing
(usually via the 

Move-on Scheme) 

Priority 3 Referrals (“No First 
Night Out”)  inc hospital and 

prison discharges

Oxford Pathway 
Co-ordination:

Determines eligibility 
and access to Oxford 

pathway O’Hanlon House
Sit-Up Service

20 spaces

Project 41
41 beds

(28 High to Medium & 13 
Medium to Low Needs)

Emmaus 
(28 beds)

Family and 
Friends

OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL ACCOMMODATION 
FOR ROUGH SLEEPERS and SINGLE HOMELESS PEOPLE WINTER SHELTER PROVISION DAY SERVICES EMPLOYMENT SUPPORT

Cherwell District 
Council

11 beds, O’Hanlon House (3 
assessment, 8 complex); 13 beds, 

Banbury
(progression, move-on)

Funded by Oxford City Council:
Aspire Oxford

Emmaus (Second-hand Superstore)
The Big Issue Foundation

Tenant Ready SchemeVale of White 
Horse and South 

Oxon District 
Councils

12 beds, O’Hanlon House (4 
assessment, 8 complex); 13 beds, 

Vineyard
 (progression, move-on)

13 beds, Goldsmiths Lane
(low level mental health)

West Oxon District 
Council

6 beds, O’Hanlon House (1 assessment, 
5 complex); 6 beds, Chipping Norton

(progression, move-on)

Oxford City Council operates the Severe 
Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) which 
provides additional beds in extreme weather. It 
is operated by OxSPOT according to demand 
and accommodation is provided at locations 
across the City.

Oxford Winter Night Shelter (OWNS) provides 
an additional ten beds throughout winter.

Oxford City Council supports and 
funds O’Hanlon House Day Centre 
and The Porch which provide:

 meals
 showers
 meaningful activity
 drop-in surgeries

The Gatehouse provides an evening 
service.

Crisis Skylight
Arts at the Old Fire Station

RAW workshop (Response at Work)
Restore

Oxfordshire Mind Wellbeing Service

Oxfordshire Mental Health 
Partnership Supported 

Accommodation

Accommodation with Response (150+ beds) & Oxfordshire Mind (85+ units 
cross County)

Floating Support/ Other 
Support Services

Connection (Generic contract and Specialist Mental Health)/ MayDay 
Asset Mentors/ Elmore Community Services/ Welfare Reform 

Team/Luther St Medical Centre (inc MH Practitioner) 
Young Persons Pathway

(227 beds in Oxon)
Emergency Beds (2); Young Persons (57); Young Parents (17); & Specialist 

(15) beds – Home Group and Key 2; and LIFE Housing (Young Mothers)
Substance Misuse Services Turning Point; Howard House (Rehab); Saplings Project (7)

Offender Accommodation Compass (40 units – Low to Medium support) Community Safety Support
TVP/ Street Ambassadors / Sanctuary Scheme & target hardening/ 

Domestic Abuse Services

53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Date Raised Owner
Gross Current Residual

Comme
nts

Controls

Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

Funding Not Spent
Appropriately

Grant funding awarded is not
spent on the activity or items it
was awarded for.
(Reduction of Rough Sleeping
and Prevention of
Homelessness)

Terms & conditions for
grant awarded not clear.

Services not provided
for homeless people 07/03/2019 Rachel Lawrence 2 1 1 1

Clear and detailed Services Level
Agreement signed and agreed by
funded organisaiton; monitoring carried
out on a quarterly basis; Preventing
Homelessness Steering Group keep an
oversight

01-Apr-19 and
on-going
throughout the
year

Rachel Lawrence

Inability to deliver
project(s)

Commissioned organisations
unable to deliver service/project
they have been funded to
deliver

Loss of other funding to
continue delivery

Services not delivered
to homeless people.
Organisation folds.

07/03/2019 Rachel Lawrence 3 3 3 2

Maintain good working relationships
and provide support to mitiigate cuts;
Contract monitoring framework in place
to give early warning of problems and
time to redress;

01-Apr-19 and
on-going
throughout the
year

Rachel Lawrence

External cuts
destabilise
organisaitons

Increase in rough sleeping and
inadequate services in the City
to deal with this effectively and
holistically

Reduction of supported
accommodation
following County
Council cuts

Oxford City Council
budget not enough to
fund both supported
accommodation and
'wrap-around service'

07/03/2019 Rachel Lawrence 4 5 4 5

Continued working in partnership with
funded organisations; ensure highest
need is addessed; ensure
commissioned services are value for
money and deliver effective services

01-Apr-19 and
on-going
throughout the
year

Rachel Lawrence

55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



.

To: Housing Panel
Date: 4th March 2019
Report of: Head of Service, Housing and Property
Title of Report: Options for the establishment of a Council run 

Letting Agency

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To explore the option of developing a council-run 

letting agency.
Key decision: No
Executive Board 
Member with 
responsibility:

Councillor Linda Smith, Deputy Leader ( Statutory) 
Leisure and Housing needs

Corporate Priority: Meeting Housing Needs
Policy Framework: Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2018-21

Recommendation:That the Panel resolves to:

1. Note the content of the report and the recommendation that it is not 
feasible to develop a Council-run lettings agency in current private sector 
market conditions.

Appendices

None.

Introduction 
1. A Council motion in February 2016 “Tackling Oxford’s unaffordable private 

rented sector” tasked the City Executive Board with considering setting up a new 
letting agency owned and operated by the Council.  This work had not been 
taken forward, in part, because of the Council’s focus on establishing a housing 
company. The rationale for considering setting up such a lettings agency would 
be to drive up standards in the local private rented sector, and operate as a not 
for profit service for the benefits of residents.

57

Agenda Item 7



2. This proposal was supported by the Panel, and it was agreed that a report on 
options for a council owned lettings agency would be considered at the Panel 
meeting on 4 March 2019.

3. This report explores the options for establishing full management Council-run 
letting agency to help boost supply to prevent homelessness and improve 
conditions in the private rented sector to meet housing needs. The 
establishment of a lettings agency was last examined by the Housing Panel in 
January 2014 – see background paper.

4. In 2014, the Panel agreed:
a. That it was not appropriate for the Council to establish a Local Letting 

Agency with the purpose of driving up housing standards in the private 
rented sector in the City;

b. That the Council should further consider alternative approaches to this, 
that would seek to achieve the same policy objective through different 
means and to refer this to the Board Member for Housing

Background and Context
5. The Council’s private rented access scheme called Home Choice was 

established in 2003 and currently:

 Facilitates over 100 new lets a year aimed at preventing homelessness; with 
nearly 2000 people helped into the private sector since the start of the scheme;

 Sustains over one thousand households with a yearly budget of £780k to cover 
8.6 staff, deposits and bonds, rent in advance, discretionary top ups;

 Offers a free service for landlords that ranges from tenant find and support 
through to rent guarantee managing agents;

 The scheme continues to maintain a trustworthy reputation with local landlords 
and agencies.

Developments since 2014 which have boost supply and improve the conditions 
of the PRS

6. Since officers last reported to this Panel in 2014, there have been many 
changes:

 As a result of Welfare Reform and subsequent policy changes, the gap between 
Local Housing Allowance and market rents has worsened, and is now at least 
20%.  

 The Oxford Rent Guarantee Scheme (ORGS) was established in late 2016 and 
this, combined with the work of a PRS Procurement Officer who works 
exclusively outside of Oxfordshire, currently sees the rate of new lets achieving 
beyond the annual target of 100. The ORGS transfers a substantial financial risk 
to the Council (as it guarantees the rent and provides a top up for the first year) 
and the work of the housing coaches improves the tenants’ housing and work 
opportunities in the long term.

58



 Lets via agents have dropped to around a third of all new lets.
7. In terms of PRS standard, the Council has a strong national reputation for 

intervening in the PRS to improve conditions:

 It carries out proactive inspection programmes targeting properties with energy 
performance certificates with F and G rating and identifying and dealing with 
“Beds in Sheds”.

 13 agents have joined the Council’s voluntary accreditation scheme.  

 Continuation of licencing and planning rules for Houses in Multiple Occupation

 In addition the Government has or will introduce further laws which include 
protection from retaliatory eviction, boosting safety compliance, to the banning of 
tenant fees, and establishing redress and regulation of landlords and agents. 

Consideration of setting up a new lettings agency
8. The local letting agent market is an industry built on volume. It requires a steady 

throughput of new tenancies to keep money coming in. The current slowdown in 
the market, and the slowing pace of rent increases, are already squeezing 
margins. A new entrant like a council run agency would struggle to build a critical 
mass of business (200 in management) over a two year period.

9. The main risk is that the benefit system no longer supports low-income tenants 
to pursue their own, unmediated pathways through the rental sector. Welfare 
Reform is undermining the economics of the bottom end of the PRS, with longer-
term impacts that are not yet well understood. The Local Housing Allowance 
(LHA) functions as a remarkably crude form of rent control, with consequences 
that are proving punishing to tenants.  

10.The Oxford April 2019 LHA rates are below in bold  followed by the 30% and 
50% percentiles of market rent showing the LHA rate if Government had 
continued using this indexing model to set the rate from 2014.  Figures are taken 

59



from Valuation Office Agency’s December 2018 figures.  This demonstrates that 
even the lowest-end of the private sector market is beyond the LHA level.

Bed Size Room Studio One Two Three Four

LHA £371 £711 £711 £836 £1000 £1300

30% £475 £764 £764 £915 £1150 £1600

50% £571 £895 £1000 £1200 £1440 £2200

11.Crucially, although there are some London Borough lettings schemes in 
operation, all are dependent on significant subsidy to operate and no known 
Council run letting agency makes a surplus by rehousing low income renters.

12.Many Council run schemes have been withdrawn as the cost of delivery 
escalates with small numbers of landlords coming on board with alternative 
demand markets and smaller % fees as rents would be sub market on 
affordability grounds leading to higher cost of delivery ratios.

13. In terms of standards, the Oxford Environmental Health Team are nationally 
recognised for their proactive PRS service and the private rented sector safety 
team believe an in-house agency would add little or no value to drive up 
standards within the City.  

14.Officers would welcome, along with other good agents, the model used by the 
devolved Governments of Wales and Scotland where local authorities ensure 
that agents abide by legislation, employ qualified staff and follow redress 
schemes.

15. In November 2018, officers submitted a major bid to the Housing Ministry’s 
Rapid Rehousing Pathway (RRP) Fund, which offered revenue funding during 
2019/20 for a range of initiatives including

 Somewhere Safe to Stay (SStS) – assessment and short term accommodation 
hubs based on the No Second / No First Night Out service model

 Navigators – to provide joined-up support for individuals, particularly chronic and 
entrenched rough sleepers, throughout their journey from the street to long term, 
sustainable accommodation options

 Local Lettings Agencies – to help clients to access accommodation in the 
Private Rented Sector (PRS)

 Supported Lettings – provision of floating support for tenancy sustainment

16.We received confirmation in February 2019 that our bid to be an “Early Adopter” 
for ‘Navigators’ has been successful. Our bid for the three other elements was 
not accepted in this first round, and in the case of Somewhere Safe to Stay we 
understand that this was due to our not being able to provide the service 
immediately, e.g. in the quarter following bid submission. However, we have had 
positive feedback on the bid and officers are hopeful that we will be successful in 
the second round which is expected in the final quarter of 2018/19 but at the 
time of writing had yet to be announced.

60



Options 
Option 1 - Setting up of a council scheme

17.The additional service of a full management letting agency is estimated to have 
an annual, recurring cost in the region of £200k a year, which may generate 40-
60 extra new lets a year, if the main demand market is aimed at low income 
renters. 

18.The estimate is arrived at based on the initial costs of the Oxford Rent 
Guarantee in 2016 covering extra 2.5 FTE, back office support and promotional 
spend. 

19.The organisational changes, whilst not insurmountable, would be considerable.  
For example, it would require additional insurance cover, specialist staff training, 
negotiation of pay and conditions, compliance with current regulation including 
the financial conduct authority if commission is sought as well as fees and fair 
trading governance.

Option 2 – No Change to current Delivery
20.Given that the development of ORGS and the work of the out of area 

procurement officer has brought lets back within target, supply is currently in line 
with expectation and the team are doing well in terms of meeting housing need 
by preventing many families from becoming homeless.

21.Standards across the private sector in Oxford are generally considered to be 
high and recognised nationally as such and the development of a council-letting 
scheme will not further drive up standards.

22.Given that current business is meeting both of these critical issues, combined 
with the subsidy required to set up such a scheme, it is not recommended by 
officers in the current climate.  This should only be reconsidered should the 
private sector market collapse.

Conclusion
23.The PRS is complex and evolving which requires ongoing assessment.  The 

intervention of a council run letting agency is considered at best to have a 
marginal impact on both supply and improving property conditions for the LHA 
market and therefore it is recommended that this is not further considered unless 
there is a dramatic change in market conditions damaging our ability to secure 
and sustain new lets.

24.

Report author David Rundle

Job title Private Rented Team Leader
Service area or department Housing needs
Telephone 01865 252398 
e-mail drundle@oxford.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

61



62



 Performance Summary  

Green = target met Housing Panel Trends compare relative performance with
Amber = within tolerance  Prd: previous month
Red = outside tolerance   Prev Year End: previous March
 December-2018 Year on Year: the same period from the previous year

Measure Latest Data Comments

Ref Description

Owner Result 
2017/18

Target Result

Year End 
Target 

2018/19

RAG

Prd
Prev 
Year  
End

HP008 Number of new 
homes granted 
permission in the 
city.

Adrian 
Arnold

721 
Number

300 
Number

151 
Number

400 
Number

R Consists of 13 C3. The figure for the number 
of new homes granted permission in the City 
is lower than expected but this does not take 
into account recent approvals granted for 
the Council Housing Company’s sites (43 
new homes in Rose Hill) and Land North of 
Littlemore Health Club (17/03050/FUL) (141 
new homes). The issuing of these decisions 
will put us on course for reaching the target 
by 1st April.

BV066a Percentage of rent 
collected.

Tanya 
Bandekar 99.42% 97.21% 95.42% 98.00%

Universal Credit Claimants continue to 
increase. waiting periods once a claim is 
made has also lengthened, contributing to 
the rise in arrears. Universal Credit Court 
Hearings are now becoming more or the 
norm, therefore we should soon start to see 
an improvement on gaining the requested 
orders we set out to obtain at court - 
strengthening the chances of recovering the 
arrears Universal Credit have created. Our 
Universal Credit Officer is now strategically 
using her position by creating strong 
contacts across the DWP to help assist with 
the unpredictable issues that arise in 
regards to UC Claims.

HC016
Number of 
affordable homes 
for rent delivered.

Stephen 
Clarke

27 
Number

95 
Number

71 
Number

126 
Number

Handover of affordable units at Barton Park 
will start in January 2019

Measure Owner Result Latest Data Year End RAG Comments

63

A
genda Item

 8



Ref Description

2017/18

Target Result

Target 
2018/19

Prd
Prev 
Year  
End

HP003

The number of 
people estimated 
to be sleeping 
rough.

Stephen 
Clarke

89 
Number

45 
Number

94 
Number

45 
Number

In November, Oxfordshire’s five district 
councils undertook their annual estimate of 
rough sleepers that forms the basis of 
government statistics on English rough 
sleeping. Employing national guidance 
developed by Homeless Link, the councils 
estimate that 119 people were sleeping 
rough in Oxfordshire last month – broadly in 
line with the finding in November 2017, that 
there were 117 rough sleepers across the 
county. Nearly four fifths (79 percent) of 
rough sleepers are in Oxford itself, where 
Oxford City Council estimated that the 
number of people sleeping rough had risen 
slightly from 89 to 94. Estimates are 
intelligence-led snapshots based on data 
from councils, outreach teams, other service 
providers and local partners about the 
number of people sleeping rough on a 
particular night. Estimates do not provide a 
complete picture of everyone sleeping rough 
in an area. In Oxford, we’re providing up to 
215 beds for rough sleepers this winter, 
which include 41 new beds funded by the 
temporary Rough Sleeper Initiative. The 
impact of high and insecure private rents, 
austerity and welfare reform – particularly 
the rollout of Universal Credit in Oxfordshire 
last year – means that, despite our efforts, 
the estimated number of rough sleepers 
across Oxfordshire remains unchanged. We 
will continue to work with our neighbours to 
tackle homelessness because we believe 
that nobody should have to sleep rough in 
Oxfordshire.

Measure Owner Result 
2017/18

Latest Data Year End 
Target 

RAG Comments

64



Ref Description Target Result
2018/19

Prd
Prev 
Year  
End

HP004

The number of 
successful 
interventions with 
rough sleepers.

Stephen 
Clarke

304 
Number

225 
Number

319 
Number

300 
Number On target.

BV064 Empty homes 
returned to use.

Stephen 
Clarke

23 
Homes

12 
Homes

15 
Homes 16 Homes On target.

CS002
Time to process 
changes in 
circumstances.

Helen 
Bishop 17 Days 18 Days 14 Days 18 Days

The Dec result was our best monthly 
result since April 2018.

CS005 Time to process 
new benefit claims

Nigel 
Kennedy

18.80 
Days

15.00 
Days

13.52 
Days 

15.00 
Days

There were 163 New Claims 
processed in December in an average 
of 14.12 days. This result was 
comfortably within the target of 15 
days.  Our year to date result at 31/12 
was 13.52 days. The fact that the 
equivalent result in 2017/18 was 19.82 
days emphasises the improvements 
made in the current year

HC003 Homeless 
Acceptances

Stephen 
Clarke

99 
Number

82 
Number

65 
Number

110 
Number On target.

HC004 Homelessness 
cases prevented

Stephen 
Clarke

1,159 
Number

825 
Number

1,100 
Number null

Please note, the Council has changed 
the way it records homeless prevention 
and will need to revise the stats for 
April to September. We are only able 
to give monthly figures – which was 73 
for December – and not a cumulative 
year to date figure.

HP006

Total number of 
affordable homes 
completed in a 
year

Stephen 
Clarke

45 
Number

101 
Number

79 
Number

135 
Number R

Handover of affordable units at Barton 
Park will start in January 2019

65



Measure Latest Data Comments

Ref Description

Owner Result 
2017/18

Target Result

Year End 
Target 

2018/19

RAG

Prd
Prev 
Year  
End

NI156 Limit our use of 
temporary 
accommodation at 
2015 levels.

Stephen 
Clarke

107  
Number

120 
Number

96 
Number

120 
Number

G  
 

This is an excellent result, against a 
target of less than 120 households in 
temporary accommodation.  Reducing 
or maintaining the number of 
households in temporary 
accommodation is a challenging 
target in a very difficult external 
environment, where the demand for 
services remains high, and the ability 
to find suitable accommodation, at 
affordable rents, locally is increasingly 
difficult. This result is testament to the 
continued exceptional homeless 
prevention work and temporary 
accommodation management 
undertaken by Housing Needs teams.

66


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	4 Housing Panel Work Plan
	5 Severe Weather Emergency Protocol: Review of 2018/19
	6 Homelessness Prevention Funds 2019/20
	Appendix A
	Appendix B Strategic priorities for preventing homelessness
	Appendix C Allocation of Homelessness Prevention Funds 201819
	Appendix D Proposed allocation of Homelessness Prevention Funds 201920
	Appendix E Map of services for rough sleepers 201920
	Appendix F Risk Register 07 Mar 19

	7 Options for a Council Owned Letting Agency
	8 Quarter 3 Housing Performance Report

